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UNI TED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
NORTHERN DI STRI CT OF CALI FORNI A

In re: Bankruptcy Case
No. 98-3-1575-SCTC
CANDACE PI NG PI NG WUCHANG, Chapter 7
Debt or .
CI TY OF REDWOOD Cl TY, Adv. Proc. No. 98-3-190-TC
Plaintiff,
VS.
CANDACE PI NG PI NG WUCHANG, VEMORANDUM DECI SI ON
Def endant .

Plaintiff seeks a determ nation that attorneys fees awarded
agai nst Defendant in a prior District Court action are nondi s-
chargeabl e in Defendant’ s bankruptcy case. The present action was
tried to the court on August 3, 1999. Peggy S. Doyl e appeared
for Plaintiff Cty of Redwood City (Redwod City). Defendant
Candace Pi ng-Ping WiChang (WiChang) appeared in pro per. Upon
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due consideration, | determne that the fee award i s nondi s-
char geabl e, because the conduct of WChang that gave rise to
the fee award was w Il ful and malicious wthin the neaning of

11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(6).

FACTS
On April 8, 1995, Candace and Abel WChang were evicted
by the Redwood City police fromreal property owned by
Glberto Villareal. Villareal had suffered a stroke and
apparently had agreed to allow the WiChangs to live in one-half
of Villareal’s duplex in exchange for personal care. Later,
however, Villareal sought to evict the WiChangs fromthe dupl ex.
On April 6, 1995, Villareal obtained fromthe San Mateo County
Superior Court an order to show cause, returnable on April 27
1995, why Candace WiChang shoul d not be ordered to cease
harassnment of Glberto Villareal. Although the court had not
i ssued a tenporary restraining order, the Redwood City police
renmoved Candace and Abel WiChang fromthe duplex on April 8, 1995.
Candace and Abel WiChang submitted an admi nistrative claim
to Redwood City, alleging that police officers | ost or destroyed
jewelry and ot her personal property worth $10,200. They sought
conpensatory and punitive damages totalling $750,000. After
Redwood City denied the claim the WiChangs filed an action in
the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California (the District Court Action) seeking damages under
42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violation of their federal civil rights.

The action was assigned to District Judge D. Lowell Jensen.
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Magi strate Judge Phyllis J. Ham lton was assigned to oversee
di scovery.

The District Court attenpted to settle the case. Judge
Ham | ton conducted a settlenent conference on Cctober 3, 1996.
Foll owi ng the settl enent conference, the defendants filed offers
of judgment totalling $17,321 under Fed. R Cv. P. 68.
Plaintiffs rejected that offer. The case was then set for a case
managenent confer-ence on Decenber 4, 1996

The di scovery process quickly degenerated into a flurry of
notions and counter notions that resulted in the dismssal of
the action. The court granted the defendants’ notions: (1) to
conpel return of docunents (Pl. Exh. 7, 9, 12); (2) to strike
lis pendens (PI. Exh. 6); (3) directing Candace WiChang® to cease

di sruptive conduct at depositions (Pl. Exh. 7, 13); and (4) to
strike irrelevant, enbarrassing, and defamatory papers filed by
WiChang (PlI. Exh. 5, 12). 1In several of the orders, the court
found WiChang had violated Rule 11 (Pl. Exh. 5, 6, 11, 12). The
court denied WiChang’s notions for Rule 11 sanctions agai nst
defendants (Pl. Exh. 7, 12) and WiChang' s notions to disqualify
Judges Ham I ton and Jensen (Pl. Exh. 11). Judge Hamlton finally
recomended that the action be dism ssed on the basis of WiChang’ s
i nproper disruption of discovery (Pl. Exh. 13). Judge Jensen
entered judgnent for defendants, granting both the defendants’
nmotion for summary judgnment and Judge Ham lton’s recomrendati on
for termnating sanctions (Pl. Exh. 15).?

Foll ow ng entry of judgnent in favor of Redwood City,

Judge Jensen ordered the WiChangs to pay Redwood City $25, 000
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for attorneys fees (the Fee Anard). He noted that a prevailing
defendant in a section 1983 suit may, in the discretion of the
court, recover attorneys fees “where plaintiff’s action, even

t hough not brought in subjective bad faith, is frivol ous,
unreasonabl e or without foundation.” He determned that a fee
awar d agai nst the WiChangs was appropriate under that standard.

The Court is persuaded that this is the unusua
case in which prevailing defendants are entitled to
recover some portion of their attorneys fees.
Plaintiffs’ conduct in pursuing their clains concerns
the Court. In litigating this case, plaintiffs have
routi nely inundated the Court w th numerous notions
and filings and refused to cooperate with court orders
despite repeated warnings regardi ng the consequences
of such fallure. See Order dated March 13, 1998. Such
action caused defense counsel to respond to nunerous
unnecessary filings by plaintiffs.

Even nore troubling, however, is the fact that
plaintiffs engaged in this pattern even after defen-
dants extended their Rule 68 offers of judgnent which,
conbi ned, exceeded the anmount clained by plaintiffs.

Al though plaintiffs’ summary judgnent papers contain

a nmeasure of damages that is higher than the initial
claimsubmtted to the City, the Rule 68 offers of

j udgnent exceeded the anount of danmages cl ai nmed by
plaintiffs at the tinme of the offers. The Court nakes
the finding that plaintiffs knew or should have known
that their clainms were unreasonabl e once they rejected
the Rule 68 offers of judgnent and continued to pursue
their clains. On this basis, the Court finds that
defendants are entitled to an award of attorneys fees.

Pl. Exh. 18 at 6. Judge Jensen then carefully reviewed the fees
sought, fixing the Fee Anard at $25,000 to: (1) exclude fees
i ncurred before the WiChangs rejected the defendant’s offers of
judgnment; (2) exclude fees incurred in work hel pful to a conpanion
case; and (3) take account of the WChangs’ poor financi al
condi tion.

Candace WiChang filed a petition under chapter 7 of the
Bankruptcy Code on April 14, 1998.° 1In the present action,
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Redwood City seeks a determnation that WiChang' s liability under
the Fee Award i s nondi schargeabl e under section 523(a)(6) of the
Bankr upt cy Code, because WiChang' s conduct that gave rise to the
Fee Award was willful and malicious.* Redwood City filed a notion
for summary judgnment, seeking to establish the el enents of nondis-
chargeability via the doctrine of collateral estoppel. | denied
the notion, concluding that Judge Jensen’s decision did not
address whet her WiChang’s actions were willful and malicious. |
did hold that the Fee Award established both the fact and anount
of WiChang’s liability. The matter was then set for trial on the
i ssue of WiChang’s intent.

The matter was tried to the court on August 3, 1999. Because
the issue to be tried was a narrow one, and because WChang had
shown a uni que propensity to waste tinme through repeated and
extended excursions into irrelevant issues, | limted each side

to three hours of testinony.?

DI SCUSSI ON

Section 523 of the Bankruptcy Code provides in relevant part:
(a) A discharge under section 727, 1141, 1228(a),
1228(b), or 1328(b) of this title does not discharge
an individual debtor from any debtS
'(6'L “for willful and malicious injury by the
debtor to another entity or to the property of
anot her entity.
The Suprene Court recently held that section 523(a)(6)
renders nondi schargeable only liabilities arising fromacts
performed with intent to cause injury. “The word "willful’ in

(a)(6) nodifies the word "injury,’ indicating that nondi scharge-
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ability takes a deliberate or intentional injury, not nerely a

deliberate or intentional act that leads to injury.” Kawaauhau v.

Ceiger, 523 U.S. 57, 118 St. . 974, 977 (1998)(enphasis in
original). In a post-Kawaauhau decision, the Fifth Grcuit held
that intent to cause injury can be inferred fromthe nature of
the act performed. “[We hold that an injury is "willful and
mal i ci ous’ where there is either an objective substanti al
certainty of harmor a subjective notive to cause harm” Mller
v. J.D. Abrans, Inc., 156 F.3d 598, 606 (5th Cr. 1998), cert.
denied, 119 S.C. 1249 and 1250 (1999). Accord Caton v. Trudeau,
157 F. 3d 1026, 1030 (5th G r. 1998), cert. denied, 119 S. C. 1462

(1999). The Tenth Circuit Bankruptcy Appell ate Panel has al so
hel d that under Kawaauhau intent to injure nay be inplied from
the nature of the debtor’s act.

I ntent may be established by either direct or indirect
evidence. WIIful injury may be established by direct
evi dence of specific intent to harma creditor or the
creditor’s property. WIIful injury may al so be
established indirectly by evidence of both the debtor’s
knowl edge of the creditor’s lien rights and the debtor’s
know edge that the conduct will cause particularized

i njury.

In re Longley, 235 B.R 651, 657 (BAP 10th G r. 1999)(citations

omtted).

| find that WiChang i ntended to harm Redwood City in the
acts which gave rise to the Fee Anmard. | infer such intent from
the nature of WiChang' s acts, which were clearly wongful and
substantially certain to cause harmto Redwood City. In finding
t hat WiChang acted with intent to harm Redwood City, | nmake and

rely upon the follow ng subsidiary findings of fact.
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(1) WiChang di sobeyed court orders directing her to return
certain tel ephone records. On February 12, 1997, Judge Ham | ton
granted a request for protective order barring WiChang from
enforcing a subpoena seeking the billing records for six tel ephone
nunbers. On April 24, 1997, Judge Ham |l ton found that WChang
obt ai ned the tel ephone records notw t hstanding the protective
order, and ordered WiChang to return those records. PlI. Exh. 7
at 13-15. The order explained that WiChang was to do this by
returning the records to Pacific Bell and by filing a declaration
on or before April 28, 1997 stating that she had done so. |d.

On May 7, 1997, Judge Ham lton issued an order to show cause re
contenpt on the basis that WiChang had not submtted the required
declaration. PlI. Exh. 9. Judge Jensen found that WChang
obt ai ned the tel ephone records despite the protective order, and
had not returned those records or filed the required declaration
as of Septenber 1997. PI. Exh. 12 at 6-8. |In granting the

def endants’ notion for term nating sanctions on March 13, 1998,
Judge Jensen found that WiChang still had not conplied with the
order requiring her to file a sworn declaration regarding the

t el ephone records. Pl. Exh. 15 at 10-12. WChang's failure to
file a sworn declaration after repeatedly being directed to do so
by the court can only be viewed as an intentional failure to obey
the court’s orders.

(2) WiChang di sobeyed court orders governing the conduct
of depositions by engaging in repeated disruptive behavior. On
April 24, 1997, Judge Ham | ton found that WiChang had acted
inproperly at prior depositions. She ordered WiChang to start
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all depositions on tinme, stop arguing wth opposi ng counsel, ask
brief, clear questions, and stop maeki ng personal attacks on
counsel and witnesses. Pl. Exh. 7 at 2-10. On August 27, 1997,
Judge Ham | ton issued a second order. She found WiChang had
violated the April 24th order, and she issued very specific
directions as to how WiChang was to rai se objections and respond
to yes or no questions. She warned WiChang that she woul d
recomend term nation sanctions if the order was not obeyed.
Pl. Exh. 13 at 5. On Novenber 24, 1997, Judge Ham | ton determ ned
t hat WiChang had viol ated the August 27th order at WChang’ s
Sept enber 25th deposition by not bringing requested docunents, by
not followng the court’s specific orders regarding the manner of
rai sing objections and answering yes or no questions, and by
spendi ng much of the three-hour deposition arguing about requested
docunents. Pl. Exh. 13. She found WChang’s conduct so egregi ous
that she recommended term nating sanctions. 1d. Judge Jensen
found that term nating sanctions were appropriate, stating:

ghis Court agrees with Judge Ham | ton that Elaintiffs

ave abused and exhausted the patience of the Court,

thus warranting the inﬁosition of term nating sanctions

in this case. Although involuntary dismssal is a

drastic neasure, and one that his Court does not inpose

l[ightly, the Court is convinced that this is the rare

case deserving of such a sanction
Pl. Exh. 15 at 15. After review of Judge Ham lton’s and Judge
Jensen’ s orders and excerpts of the transcript from WcChang’s
Sept enber 25th deposition, | find that WiChang wil |l fully di sobeyed
Judge Hamilton's orders with the natural result that Redwood City

i ncurred additional attorneys fees.
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(3) WiChang filed repeated frivolous notions to disqualify
the judges hearing the District Court Action. On May 6, 1997,
WiChang filed a notion to disqualify Judge Ham lton, citing no
evi dence of prejudice other than the judge's rulings. Pl. Exh. 8.
She filed a second notion to disqualify Judge Ham | ton on
August 12, 1997. PlI. Exh. 10. Judge Jensen denied the notions on
Cct ober 6, 1997, holding that the allegation that Judge Ham | ton
repeatedly rul ed agai nst WiChang did not state a legally
sufficient basis to disqualify the judge. See Liteky v. United
States, 510 U. S. 551, 556 (1994). On June 3, 1998, well after she

recei ved Judge Jensen’s order denying the notions to disqualify
Judge Hami | ton, WiChang filed a notion seeking to disqualify both
Judge Jensen and Judge Ham lton. This notion also failed to cite
any evidence of bias other than the two judges’ rulings and was
denied. PI. Exh. 31, 33.

(4) WiChang nmade unsupported personal attacks on Redwood
City’s counsel and witnesses. On April 17, 1997, WChang fil ed
a notion seeking Rule 11 sanctions charging that Redwood City
W t nesses and counsel had submtted perjured decl arations and
deposition testinony, destroyed or altered evidence, and prevented
WiChang from taking discovery. PlI. Exh. 10. The court found
these allegations to be conpletely without nerit. See Pl. Exh. 12
at 11. WcChang repeated many of these allegations |Iong after they
had been rejected by the District Court. During the course of her
appeal of the order dismssing the District Court Action, WChang
filed a notion in the NNnth Crcuit seeking to disqualify Redwood

Cty' s counsel fromparticipating in the appeal on the basis of
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the allegations of m sconduct at the trial court level that had
previously been rejected by the District Court. PlI. Exh. 20 at
2-4. The notion was denied.?®

(5 WiChang filed a frivolous |lis pendens. On January 27,

1997, Wichang filed in the District Court two notices of pending
action concerning six properties owned by the Villareal and
Tarangioli famlies. The property owners noved to strike the lis
pendens on the basis that the District Court Action, which alleged
various intentional torts, did not involve a claimconcerning
title to the real properties in question. The court granted the
motion to strike and determ ned that WiChang had violated Rule 11

in filing the |lis pendens.

In the present case, plaintiffs’ notices of lis
pendens were unwarranted by existing |law and |legally
unreasonable. California Code of Cvil Procedure
section 405.54 clearly states that recording a lis
pendens is only proper in a case involving a claim
to real property. Having drafted their own conpl aint,
plaintiffrs are well-aware of their clains against
def endants and should know that none involve a claim
totitle of defendants’ real property.
Pl. Exh. 6 at 7.7
(6) The District Court found that WiChang i nproperly
inflated her claimfor |ost personal property. |In the admnistra-
tive claimsubmtted to Redwood City, which was attached to her
conpl ai nt, WiChang cl ained that police officers |ost or destroyed
personal property worth $10,000. PI. Exh. 1. Following a
settl enment conference with Judge Ham I ton, the defendants filed
of fers of judgnent under Fed. R Cv. P. 68 totalling $17, 321.
Pl. Exh. 2 & 3. In a declaration filed in response to defendants’

nmotion for summary judgnent, WiChang stated that she | ost personal
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property worth $40,963. Pl. Exh. 18 at 5-6. Judge Jensen found
that the timng of this increase denonstrated “that plaintiffs
knew or shoul d have known that their clainms were unreasonabl e once
they rejected the Rule 68 offers of judgnment and continued to
pursue their clains.” 1d. at 6.

Toget her, the acts descri bed above constitute overwhel m ng
evi dence of WiChang's intent to injure Redwood City. Wichang s
acts paint a clear picture of a person who felt herself free to
use any tactic, however inproper, against her opponents. She
engaged in conduct at depositions so inherently disruptive and
i nappropriate that she nust be assunmed to have intended to inpose
upon Redwood City the unnecessary |egal costs that naturally
resulted fromthose acts. She filed several patently frivol ous
notions, sonme of these after the District Court had held simlar
nmotions to be conpletely wi thout foundation. The very nature of
WiChang' s frivolous notions to disqualify Redwood City’'s counsel
and Judges Ham I ton and Jensen suggests that their purpose was to
visit retribution on anyone who failed to support her. That these
wrongful acts were not the product of nerely negligent ignorance
of the rules is proved by Wichang’s vigilance enforce-nent of the
rul es agai nst her opponents. A finding that Wchang acted
maliciously is further conpelled by the indiscrimnate,
unrestrai ned personal attacks that appear throughout her papers
regarding all attorneys, w tnesses, and judges who failed to
support her cl ai ns.

WiChang' s argunent at trial was that she was justified in

bringing the District Court Action because the April 8, 1995
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eviction was wongful. She correctly notes that the San Mateo
Superior Court had not issued a restraining order against her,

but had only issued an order to show cause returnable 19 days
after the eviction. This argunent is unpersuasive, because
WiChang was not sanctioned for filing the lawsuit. She was
ordered to pay attorneys fees because of the grossly inappropriate
manner in which she prosecuted the lawsuit. Judge Jensen nmade
this very clear in the nenorandum expl aining the basis for the
Fee Award. He also limted the award to fees incurred after the
settlenment conference. Simlarly, | have not found that WChang
acted inproperly in bringing the District Court Action. Rather,
find that she acted nmaliciously in her conduct at depositions, her
filing of frivolous notions, and her failure to obey court orders.

CONCLUSI ON

WiChang' s liability under the Fee Award i s nondi scharge-
able in WiChang' s chapter 7 bankruptcy pursuant to 11 U S. C
§ 523(a)(6).

Dat ed:

Thomas E. Carl son
Uni ted States Bankruptcy Judge
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1. Although the action was filed by both Candace and Abel
WiChang, Candace filed all notions and nade all court appearances.

2. WiChang appeal ed the judgnent. The Ninth Crcuit affirnmed on
June 17, 1999 (PI. Exh. 48). WiChang petitioned the Ninth Grcuit
fgg rehearing and for rehearing en banc on July 1, 1999 (Pl. Exh.

49) .

3. Judge Jensen entered the Fee Award after WiChang fil ed her
bankruptcy petition. Although the automatic stay may not have
barred Judge Jensen fromentering the Fee Award, because WiChang
was a Plaintiff in the District Court Action, to the extent the
automatic stay did apply, this court granted retroactive relief
f{on1sLay on February 12, 1999 to permt entry of the Fee Award.
Pl . Exh. 44.

4. Redwood City asserted two other causes of action in the
present action. The second claimfor relief was voluntarily

di sm ssed by Redwood City. The third claimfor relief was
dism ssed for failure to state a clai mupon which relief may be
gr ant ed.

5. WiChang’'s allotted tinme was not charged for Redwood City’'s
cross exam nation of WiChang’s w tnesses. Such cross exam nation
was charged to Redwood City’'s tine all otnent.

6. Pl. Exh. 22. WChang’s Nnth Grcuit notion to disqualify
counsel was clearly not part of the basis for the Fee Award. |
rely upon it solely to illumnate the intent behi nd WiChang’ s
conduct in the District Court Action. See Fed. R Evid. 404(b).

7. The filing of the lis pendens did not harm Redwood Gty and
is relied upon solely to illunm nate WiChang’ s intent regarding
actions that did affect Redwood City. See Fed. R Evid. 404(Db).
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